

SCHEME 2006 – 2009 UNDER SECTION 11 OF THE OFFICIAL LANGUAGES ACT 2003

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Chapter 1 – Introduction and Background	3
Guidelines for preparation of the scheme	
Consultation Process	3 3 3
The Content of the Language Scheme	3
Commencement Date of Scheme	4
Overview of the Department	4
The Services We Provide	6
Functional Areas of the Department	7
Our Customers	7
The Department's Offices	7
Assessment of extent to which services are already available through Irish	7
Chapter 2 – Means of Communication with the Public	
Written means of communication including electronic communication	9
Interpersonal Means of Communication	12
Chapter 3 – Enhancement of services to be provided bilingually	
Services not available in Irish	15
General Commitment to Irish Language service development	15
Training and Development	15
Recruitment and Placement	16
Language Resources	17
Translation Services	17
Corporate Identity	17
Third Parties	17
Chapter 4 – Monitoring and Revision	18
Chapter 5 – Publicising of Agreed Scheme	19
Appendix A – Location of Department's offices	20

Chapter 1: Introduction and Background

This scheme was prepared under Section 11 of the Official Languages Act 2003 ("the Act") by the Department of Communications, Marine and Natural Resources. Section 11 provides for the preparation by public bodies of a statutory scheme detailing the services they will provide

- through the medium of Irish
- through the medium of English, and
- through the medium of Irish and English

and the measures to be adopted to ensure that any service not provided by the body through the medium of the Irish language will be so provided within an agreed timeframe.

Guidelines for preparation of the scheme

Section 12 of the Act provides for the preparation of guidelines by the Minister for Community, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs and their issue to public bodies to assist in the preparation of draft schemes. This scheme has been drawn-up with due regard to those guidelines.

Consultation Process

The Department published a notice under Section 13 of the Act on 7 July 2005, inviting representations in relation to the preparation of the draft scheme under Section 11 from any interested parties. Some six submissions were received, all of which are available for viewing on the Department's website www.demnr.gov.ie. The Department is grateful for the views put forward by these organisations and individuals.

The scheme has been informed by these submissions and views and suggestions put forward by staff in the various Divisions of the Department.

The Content of the Language Scheme

Preparation and development of the scheme was overseen by the Department's Sub-group on Quality Customer Service assisted by liaison officers from each functional area of the Department. The scheme was finalised following widespread consultation with all staff of the Department and also following consultation with the Department of Community, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs. Responsibility for monitoring implementation of the scheme will rest with senior management within the Department.

The scheme builds on the extent to which services are currently available through Irish as a starting base. Areas for future enhancement of service provided by the Department are identified in the body of the scheme. The scheme also includes a commitment to assess on an ongoing basis the level of demand for services through Irish and to ensure that the Department continues to meet this demand in a planned, coherent and accessible way. The Department will continue to gauge the level of

demand for its services in the Irish language by carrying out regular and timed audits through a system of counting/measuring the level of queries/requests for services through Irish in a given period.

Commencement Date of Scheme

This scheme has been confirmed by the Minister for Community, Rural and Gaeltacht Affairs. The scheme will commence with effect from 2 October 2006 and will remain in force for a period of 3 years from this date or until a new scheme has been confirmed by the Minister pursuant to Section 15 of the Act, whichever is the earlier.

Overview of the Department of Communications, Marine and Natural Resources

Mission and Functions

The Department's Mission, as set out in our Statement of Strategy 2005 – 2007, is:

"To promote the sustainable development, management and regulation of the communications, energy, marine and natural resources sectors in support of national economic and social policy objectives".

Our Mission Statement aims to encapsulate the policy objectives for the Department which are delivered either directly or through associated State bodies and agencies. Our principal responsibilities in the fields of communications, energy, marine and natural resources can be summarised as follows:

Communications

To contribute to sustained macro-economic growth and competitiveness and to ensure that Ireland is best placed to avail of the emerging opportunities provided by the information and knowledge society, by promoting investment in state-ofthe-art infrastructures, by providing a supportive legislative and regulatory environment, and by developing a leading edge research and development reputation in the information, communications and digital technologies sectors.

Broadcasting

- To create an environment that encourages the maintenance of high quality Irish radio and television services by both independent broadcasters and RTÉ.
- To secure a viable future for high quality public service broadcasting in the Irish market.
- To seek to retain access to a range of quality programming in analogue and digital form, on a universal and free-to-air basis.

Postal

- To ensure Irish industry and domestic customers enjoy competitively priced, high-quality postal services on a par with the highest quality standards in key comparator economies elsewhere in the EU.
- To maintain the nation-wide postal services and network, with uniform tariffs applying throughout the State, where required by regulation.
- To develop the Irish postal sector in such a way that it will underpin the key economic objective of Ireland becoming a knowledge economy.

Energy

- Safeguarding security of energy supply.
- Developing a sustainable energy future.
- The development of competitive, efficient and properly regulated energy markets.

Marine

- To maximise the contribution of the seafood sector to the economies of coastal regions.
- To support and manage the sustainable use and development of Ireland's marine territory.
- The integration of a Departmental and Marine Institute contribution to marine and angling tourism and leisure within the overall national tourism policy framework with a view to adding value to the national effort.
- To deliver national marine research capability which supports the innovation and sustainable development of the marine sector and the protection of the marine environment.

Natural Resources

- To conserve the inland fisheries resource in its own right and to facilitate exploitation of the resource on an equitable and sustainable basis.
- To stimulate discovery of economic mineral deposits and to maximise the contribution of the mining sector to the national economy, with due regard to its environmental and social impact.
- To maximise the benefits to the national economy from exploration for, and production of, indigenous oil and gas resources, while ensuring that activities are

conducted safely and with due regard to their impact on the environment and other land/sea users.

- To acquire and maintain the currency and validity of geoscience data in order to provide timely, authoritative, impartial and up-to-date information and advice to assist relevant sectors of the economy to develop and prosper.
- To support decision making in the areas of environmental protection and sustainable management of earth resources through the provision of information and advice by the Geological Survey of Ireland, which is the national geological agency.

The functions which we discharge in respect of these areas of responsibility embrace policy development and review, sectoral development, regulation, public resource management and corporate governance.

The Services We Provide

Our work includes a significant range of services which we provide directly to the public. Among these are:

- Licensing of sea-fishing boats;
- Sea fisheries and seafood control;
- Certification of Sea Food premises;
- Management of Fishery Harbour Centres;
- Licensing and leasing under the Foreshore Acts;
- Licensing and regulation of aquaculture;
- Licensing and leasing under the Minerals Development Acts 1940 1999 and the Petroleum and Other Minerals Development Acts 1960 1995;
- Licensing under the Fisheries (Consolidation) Act 1959 (importation of live coldwater fish);
- Maps, reports and databases describing the onshore and offshore geology and landscapes of Ireland, as well as the effective management of its water and natural resources.

Further details of the Department's services are available in the guide we publish pursuant to section 15 of the Freedom of Information Acts 1997 and 2003 (which can be accessed on the Department's website: www.dcmnr.gov.ie).

Functional Areas of the Department

The Department's functional areas comprise four sectoral areas and one corporate support area. These are:

- Communications
- Energy
- Marine
- Natural Resources
- Corporate Services.

Each functional area is divided into a number of business units/sections each of which is headed by a Head of Function. The Department has four Assistant Secretaries who, with the Deputy Secretary General and Secretary General, are members of the Management Committee.

Our Customers

The Department's customer base reflects the wide range of sectors and activities which fall within our remit. Among our customers we count specifically the Minister and Minister of State, other members of the Oireachtas, local public representatives, individual members of the public, the public bodies under our aegis, representative bodies engaged in the sectors for which we are responsible, individuals and companies with whom we have a direct business relationship, other Government Departments and public bodies, the European Union, international organisations, the media, and voluntary groups whose interests and concerns bring them into contact with the Department.

The Department's Offices

The Department's head office is located at 29 - 31 Adelaide Road, Dublin 2. The Department also has offices in Leeson Lane and Beggars Bush in Dublin and at a number of locations throughout the country. Appendix A contains a full list of all our offices throughout the country.

The Department's headquarters will be moving to Cavan as part of the Government's decentralisation plans. Arrangements for this are being made under the guidance of the Decentralisation Implementation Committee established by Government. In addition, plans are underway for the relocation of the marine policy functions to Clonakilty, Co Cork.

Assessment of extent to which services are already available through Irish

The primary objective of the Official Languages Act 2003 is to ensure better availability and a higher standard of public services through Irish.

At the present time, the Department provides a limited number of services bilingually. The Department's corporate publications – Statement of Strategy, Annual Report and

Customer Service Action Plan and Charter – are available in Irish and English. A limited number of other publications have also been made available in Irish and English. The Department currently has a policy of placing the majority of its press advertisements in both Irish and English and the Department's headed paper and main signage are also in Irish and English. All correspondence received in Irish is answered in Irish and every effort is made to accommodate customers who telephone or visit the Department and who wish to conduct their business in Irish without detriment to the speed or quality of service provided.

Chapter 2: Means of Communication with the Public

The Department communicates with the public through:

- (1) Written means, including electronic communication;
- (2) Interpersonal means.

Written means of communication, including electronic communication

The Department has carried out an assessment of the various written means of communication with the public in use across the Department. These are set out below together with the commitments the Department is making in relation to the development of an Irish language service policy:

Means of Communication	Irish Language Service Delivery
	Commitment
Corporate Publications, including	Section 10 of the Act requires a
Statement of Strategy, Annual Report,	Statement of Strategy, Annual Report,
Customer Service Action Plan, Customer	Audited Accounts or Financial
Service Charter, Customer Comment Card,	Statements and any document setting
Freedom of Information Sections 15 & 16	out policy proposals to be published by
Manuals.	the Department simultaneously in Irish
	and English.
	All other corporate publications will be
	made available in bilingual format.
Guidelines, information leaflets and	All guidelines, information leaflets and
application forms relating to individual	application forms generated by the
schemes/programmes/processes.	Department in relation to its schemes,
	programmes or processes and which are
	referred to in the Department's Freedom
	of Information Sections 15 and 16
	Manuals will be made available in
	bilingual format.
Departmental publications on major policy	These publications will in general be
statements or reviews in the	made available bilingually. If the cost
communications, energy, marine and	of bilingual publication in any
natural resources sectors.	individual case is deemed excessive due
	to the size of the document, the
	Department may choose to publish the
	executive summary/recommendations in
	bilingual format.
Publications generated by other bodies but	These publications will be made
available from the Department.	available in the language in which they
	have been published by the generating
	Department/body.
Press Releases.	Departmental press releases, other than
	speeches which have been issued as or
	are attached to press releases, will be

	made available bilingually on the
	Department's website and in hardcopy.
	(Appendices attached to press releases
	e.g. lists of harbour improvement works
	to receive grant aid, full details of Board
	appointees, etc. will be available in one
	official language only).
Pre-recorded computerised messaging.	The standard disclaimer on email
1 re-recorded computerised messaging.	communications will be bilingual.
	communications will be offinigual.
	Individual staff members can choose to
	put the non-system generated part of the
	"out of office" email message in Irish or
	English or both languages.
Speeches.	Speeches will be made available in the
~ F	language in which they are delivered.
Requests for Tender.	Requests for Tender will be made
requests for Telluct.	available in English only unless the
	,
	tender itself relates to an Irish language
	issue.
Replies to Freedom of Information requests	The practice in the Department is that
	replies to all FOI requests (other than
	requests for personal information) are
	published on the Department's website
	in the language in which the request was
	received and this practice will continue.
Website.	The Department will develop parallel
	English/Irish websites in respect of the
	general material relating to the
	Department and its services. Certain
	material, as indicated above, e.g.
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	speeches, publications generated by
	other Departments/bodies and any
	material in respect of which the
	Department does not propose to publish
	bilingually will be available in English
	only on the website.
Statutory Instruments.	The Department is responsible for some
	260 Statutory Instruments (SI) each
	year. Many of these relate to Fisheries
	Management and Conservation. This
	category of SI is highly technical and
	the majority are only in operation for a
	short period of time and are then
	replaced with a new SI. Some of the
	other categories of SI made by the
	Department (internal market in natural
	gas, electricity etc) are also technical
	and can be very large in size.

	Information about the requirements
	created by such instruments is
	communicated to the public by way of
	notices in the media which will be
	available in both languages. Given the
	resources we have available and the
	other areas we have identified as greater
	priorities for improving the quality of
	our services to customers in the Irish
	language, translation of such SIs is not a
	priority for this scheme.
	Other SIs (payment in lieu of fines
	regulations, licence fee regulations, etc.)
	will be available in Irish and English
	with the Irish translation of instruments
	made in English available within four
	weeks of the publication of the original SI.
Gaeltacht Placenames.	The Department will put in place the
	necessary arrangements to ensure that
	the official placenames of Gaeltacht
	areas are used by the Department as the
	default for official purposes in
	Departmental publications, internal
	databases, etc.
Other Publications.	Expenditure Review Reports, Progress
	Reports under the National
	Development Plan, Action
	Plans/Progress Reports under Sustaining
	Progress and its successor, Consultants'
	Reports, documents intended for an
	audience outside the State and
	documents intended primarily for
	internal Departmental use e.g. HR
	policies, training and development plans, internal customer charters, will in
	general be made available in English
	only.
	only.
	It is not the intention to publish
	bilingual versions of documents which
	are of a technical nature or that have a
	small circulation.
	Any other publication not listed above
1	* *
	and not referred to in any other category
	and not referred to in any other category will be considered for bilingual

•	1	1		•	.1	1	
C17A	and	lax	mut	αt	the	material	
SIZC	anu	Ia	voui	$\mathbf{o}_{\mathbf{I}}$	uic	material	

Where the Department has made commitments in relation to the development of bilingual means of written communication, including electronic communication, the following approach will apply:

- The bilingual commitments referred to above will not generally have retrospective effect. The start date for the development of bilingual publications (whether in hard copy or electronic format including the website) has been set at 2 October 2006 (commencement date of scheme) to allow for the putting in place of a cost effective and efficient translation service;
- With effect from 2 October 2006 (commencement date of scheme), all new/updated written means of communication will be produced in bilingual format at the time they are produced or updated. However, the Department will produce guidelines, leaflets and application forms relating to ongoing schemes, programmes and processes, as set out in the Department's Freedom of Information Sections 15 and 16 Manuals, in bilingual format where such documents are not otherwise due for updating by end-2008;
- When publishing in hard copy format, the Department will make every effort to ensure that bilingual publications are produced under a single cover rather than as separate publications. However, where the length of any bilingual publication would reduce its effectiveness, separate Irish language and English language versions will be provided. In this regard each will contain a statement that a version is available in the other language. This commitment does not apply to web publications or to Statutory Instruments which will be published separately;
- The Department's bilingual website will be developed over the period of the scheme to allow for redesign and translation costs to be spread over three years. The development of bilingual on-line facilities may require more significant upgrade work which will be taken into account in the context of future system upgrades. Website publication will, in general, not be simultaneous Irish/English publications unless otherwise required under the Act or the scheme.

Interpersonal Means of Communication

The Department has carried out an assessment of the various interpersonal means of communication with the public in use across the Department. These are set out below together with the commitments the Department is making in relation to the development of an Irish language service policy:

Means of Communication	Irish Language Service Delivery Commitment
Telephone/Switch Board Service	The Department will ensure, by December 2006, that the main non- system generated pre-recorded announcements (i.e. the pre-recorded announcements in place when the

	Department's offices are closed or when the switchboard operator is busy) are in bilingual format. The switchboard operator will answer the phone by referring to the name of the Department in Irish and English. The switchboard staff will be provided with a list of Departmental staff members in each section/unit who can provide a
	service through Irish. Individual staff members can choose to put their voicemail messages in Irish or English or both languages.
Reception Facilities.	The reception staff will be provided with a list of Departmental staff members in each section/unit who can provide a service through Irish.
One to one contact either by phone or in person.	In order to provide interpersonal services through Irish, whether by phone or in person, the Department will, by December 2006, assign overall responsibility for matters relating to the Official Languages Act to an Irish Language Officer. The role of the Irish Language Officer will be to oversee implementation of the Act and Scheme in the Department.
	The Irish Language Officer will be assisted by staff spread across the Department who currently have Irish language proficiency.
	Staff with ability to provide interpersonal Irish language services will, with their agreement, be identified in an appropriate way on telephone lists, at reception and on the organisation chart and their email addresses will be included under relevant sections on the website.
Public Meetings policy.	The Department conducts the majority of its public meetings in the English language only. However, the Department will, when warranted, provide staff proficient in Irish for meetings in Gaeltacht areas or when dealing with

	Gaeltacht issues.
Computer Systems	Development of new interactive on-line
	services will be compatible with the Irish
	language, taking into account the
	availability of Irish language software
	from the relevant software supplier.
Offices in the Gaeltacht	Irish will be the working language of any
	of the Department's offices located in the
	Gaeltacht not currently functioning in this
	manner. The target date for
	implementation of this commitment is
	2020.
Service to Gaeltacht Areas	The Department undertakes to provide a
	service through Irish to members of the
	public in Gaeltacht areas over the lifetime
	of this scheme.

Chapter 3: Enhancement of services to be provided bilingually

Services not available in Irish

In its first scheme, the Department's main focus will be on building up the range of written and electronic means of communication available bilingually and on developing Irish language competency amongst staff to facilitate interpersonal Irish service language delivery on a general level. In practice, this means that while the Department will be in a position to provide general information about the Department and its overall services through Irish, the Department will not be in a position to conduct detailed service or programme specific business through Irish.

General Commitment to Irish Language service development

The Department is committed to encouraging the development of Irish language skills across all areas of the Department to facilitate the progressive development of a quality one-to-one customer service in Irish to meet the demand for such services.

The Department is, however, starting from a relatively low base in terms of both written and interpersonal Irish language service capability. While the provision of written communications in bilingual format is primarily a cost and time issue, the development of Irish language skills by staff to facilitate day-to-day interpersonal service delivery is significantly more difficult. The Department has already carried out an Irish language skills audit across the Department and is in a position to provide a certain level of interpersonal Irish language services based on the current availability of Irish language skills. However, it will take considerably more time and effort to increase the relatively small core group of staff with sufficient Irish language capability and confidence to deliver Irish language services on an interpersonal level. The extent to which such interpersonal services can be developed will also be affected by actual demand for such services.

Once it is established that staff and sections have the capacity to deal with Irish language customers on an interpersonal level, the Irish Language Officer, will promote the availability of the Irish language service in such sections by listing, with the agreement of staff, contact details on the telephone list, organisation chart and website for customers. This will have the additional effect of promoting public confidence in the availability of a quality customer service in Irish and unlocking latent demand for services in Irish.

Training and Development

The Staff Development Unit/Irish Language Officer will:

- Make available to all staff of the Department appropriate Irish language training courses, including within normal working hours, to maximise attendance and relevance to the Department's work;
- Promote the refund of fees scheme as a mechanism for encouraging Irish language training;

- Provide advice to staff on the range of high-quality Irish language classes available outside office hours (e.g. third-level Diploma in Irish; Sult; Gael-Linn, etc);
- Include language awareness as part of both Induction and Customer Service training courses so as to ensure that staff:
 - understand why the Department is developing an Irish language service policy
 - understand the context and background to the policy
 - are fully informed about how the policy will affect their work;
- Assess all courses, including Irish language courses and courses delivered through Irish, on a regular basis to ascertain how effectively they meet the Department's goals;
- Develop, by end 2007, a set of Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) in bilingual format in conjunction with each section/unit of the Department to assist staff in dealing with interpersonal Irish language queries at section/unit level and make the FAQs available on the Department's website;
- Continue to seek additional volunteers to provide Irish language services across the Department as Irish language capability develops. With the agreement of staff, they will be identified in an appropriate way on telephone lists, at reception and on the organisation chart and their email addresses will be included under relevant sections on the website;
- Put in place arrangements for the celebration, in an appropriate way, of the Annual Seachtain na Gaeilge event within the Department;
- Explore opportunities to encourage the development of Irish language skills amongst staff through informal activities.

Recruitment and Placement

The following measures will be put in place, over the lifetime of this scheme, to ensure that an adequate number of staff with proficiency in the Irish language are recruited and retained within the Department in order to comply with the provisions of the Act:

- As part of its recruitment policy, the Department, in cooperation with the Public Appointments Service, will publicly advertise competitions for staff to work through Irish (especially in the Gaeltacht and/or serving Gaeltacht communities), when suitable people are not available through general entry level competitions.
- Appropriate placement of staff with such proficiency will be implemented by the Department, particularly in Gaeltacht offices, or in offices that will service Gaeltacht areas.

Language Resources

All staff will have easy access to information and language resources, e.g. dictionaries, both hard copy and in electronic format.

Translation Services

With effect from the commencement of the scheme, the Department will make available to staff a list of all companies and individuals providing translation services. Support IT services such as spell checker software will be available within the Department.

The Department, in monitoring the demand for services through Irish, will consider the option of recruiting a translator to provide in-house translation services. A decision in this regard will be taken by mid 2008.

Corporate Identity

The Department's stationery such as headed paper and complimentary slips will continue to be produced in bilingual format. When it is necessary to change the Department's stationery or order new stocks a specific reference to Irish being welcome will be incorporated into the new stationery e.g.

Beidh fáilte roimh chomhfhreagras as Gaeilge.

Third Parties

With effect from the commencement of the scheme, third parties working for the Department will be made aware of the scheme where relevant and will be encouraged to reflect the spirit of the scheme in the services being provided by them.

Chapter 4: Monitoring and Revision

The Irish Language Officer will provide support and assistance to all areas of the Department on the commitments contained in the scheme and will have overall responsibility for overseeing implementation of the Act and Scheme in the Department. The day-to-day monitoring and implementation function will be carried out by Heads of Function in respect of the Divisions for which they are responsible. The Irish Language Officer will also monitor on a regular basis supply and demand for Irish language services across all areas of the Department.

The Irish Language Officer will report on progress to the Central Partnership Committee and to the Management Committee every six months. Progress on the Department's scheme will be included in the Department's Annual Report commencing with the 2006 Annual Report.

Chapter 5: Publicising of Agreed Scheme

The contents of this scheme will be publicised by means of:

- Press Release
- Official launch of the scheme
- Public advertisement of availability of scheme
- Circulation to appropriate bodies and
- Publication of the scheme on the Department's website.

A copy of this scheme has been forwarded to Oifig Choimisinéir na dTeangacha Oifigiúla and all of those who made submissions to the Department in the context of this scheme being developed.

APPENDIX A: LOCATION OF DEPARTMENT'S OFFICES

The Department's Headquarters Office is currently located at **29 – 31 Adelaide Road**, **Dublin 2** - Tel: 01-6782000; LoCall number: 1890 44 99 00. The Department also has offices throughout the country as follows:

Leeson Lane, Dublin 2.

Tel: 01-6782000

Exploration and Mining Division, Beggars Bush, Haddington Road, Dublin 4.

Tel: 01-6782000

Petroleum Affairs Division, Beggars Bush, Haddington Road, Dublin 4.

Tel: 01-6782000

Geological Survey of Ireland, Beggars Bush, Haddington Road, Dublin 4.

Tel: 01 - 6782000

Accounts Branch, Michael Davitt House, Castlebar, Co. Mayo.

Tel: 094 9024744

Engineering Division, "Oak House", Bessboro Road, Mahon, Cork.

Tel: 021 4515100

Engineering Division, Upper Main Street, Ballyshannon, Co. Donegal.

Tel: 071 9852561

Engineering Division, Ross House, Merchants Road, Galway.

Tel: 091 564514

Engineering Division, 3 Greenview Terrace, Princes Quay, Tralee, Co. Kerry.

Tel: 066 7127235

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, "Oak House", Bessboro Rd, Mahon, Cork

Tel: 021 4515100

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Dingle Harbour Office, An Daingean, Co.

Kerry. Tel: 066 9151152

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Castletownbere, Co. Cork.

Tel: 027 70439

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Dunmore East Harbour, Co. Waterford.

Tel: 051 383135

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Auction Hall, Killybegs, Co. Donegal.

Tel: 074 9731264

<u>Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Ros-a-Mhíl, Co. Galway.</u> Tel: 091 572405

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Ross House, Merchants Road, Galway. Tel: 091 568313

Sea Fisheries Control and Enforcement, Auction Hall, West Pier, Howth, Co. Dublin. Tel: 01 8321910

Castletownbere Fishery Harbour Centre, Harbour Office, Castletownbere, Co. Cork. Tel: 027 70220

Dunmore East Fishery Harbour Centre, Harbour Office, Dunmore East, Co. Waterford. Tel: 051 383166

Howth Fishery Harbour Centre, Harbour Office, Howth, Co. Dublin. Tel: 01 8322252

Killybegs Fishery Harbour Centre, Harbour Office, Killybegs, Co. Donegal. Tel: 074 9731032

Ros-a-Mhíl Fishery Harbour Centre, Harbour Office, Ros-a-Mhíl, Co. Galway. Tel: 091 572108